

East Tennessee State University Digital Commons @ East Tennessee State University

Electronic Theses and Dissertations

Student Works

5-2022

Hypocretin-Receptor mRNA Expression in the Central Amygdala of Alcohol-Dependent and Non-Dependent Rats

Gabriel Aldridge East Tennessee State University

Follow this and additional works at: https://dc.etsu.edu/etd

Part of the Molecular and Cellular Neuroscience Commons

Recommended Citation

Aldridge, Gabriel, "Hypocretin-Receptor mRNA Expression in the Central Amygdala of Alcohol-Dependent and Non-Dependent Rats" (2022). *Electronic Theses and Dissertations.* Paper 4047. https://dc.etsu.edu/etd/4047

This Thesis - unrestricted is brought to you for free and open access by the Student Works at Digital Commons @ East Tennessee State University. It has been accepted for inclusion in Electronic Theses and Dissertations by an authorized administrator of Digital Commons @ East Tennessee State University. For more information, please contact digilib@etsu.edu.

Hypocretin- Receptor mRNA Expression in the Central Amygdala of Alcohol-Dependent and

Non-Dependent Rats

A thesis

presented to

the faculty of the Department of Biological Sciences

East Tennessee State University

In partial fulfillment

of the requirements for the degree

Master of Science in Biology

by

Gabriel Aldridge

May 2022

Dr. Brooke Schmeichel, Chair

Dr. Cerrone Foster

Dr. Patrick Bradshaw

Keywords: addiction, alcohol, hypocretin, RNAscope

ABSTRACT

Hypocretin-Receptor mRNA Expression in the Central Amygdala of Alcohol-Dependent and Non-Dependent Rats

by

Gabriel Aldridge

Hypocretin/Orexin (HCRT) neurotransmission facilitates drug-seeking behavior. HCRT neurotransmission at HCRT-receptors 1 and 2 (HCRT-R1 and -R2, respectively) is implicated in addiction. During the shift to alcohol-dependency, adaptations in neurotransmitter systems occur in reward- and stress-related brain regions. Specifically, neurotransmission systems in the central amygdala (CeA) are modulated by alcohol drinking/exposure. Therefore, this study investigated *Hcrtr1* and *Hcrtr2* mRNA expression in the CeA of alcohol-dependent rats and in non-dependent controls during acute alcohol withdrawal. *Fos* mRNA expression in the CeA of alcoholdependent and non-dependent rats was also determined to assess adaptations in neuronal activation. To our knowledge, this is the first study to utilize RNAscope to quantify *Hcrtr1* and *Hcrtr2* mRNA in a rodent model of alcohol dependence. However, *Hcrtr1, Hcrtr2*, and *Fos* mRNA levels were not found to be significantly different in alcohol-dependent rats compared to non-dependent controls, possibly due to the temporal dynamics of these neuroadaptations. Copyright 2022 by Gabriel Aldridge All Rights Reserved

TABLE OF CONTENTS

ABSTRACT			
LIST OF FIGURES			
CHAPTER 1. INTRODUCTION			
The Hypocretin System			
HCRT and Addiction7			
HCRT Neurotransmission Mediates Alcohol-Seeking Behavior9			
CeA in Alcohol Dependence and Withdrawal10			
Alcohol's Regulation of Hcrt and Hcrtr Expression11			
RT-PCR Versus RNAscope: A Comparison			
Hypothesis and Specific Goals14			
CHAPTER 2. MATERIALS AND METHODS 15			
Animals15			
Chronic Intermittent Ethanol Vapor (CIEV) 15			
RNAscope16			
Statistical Analysis17			
CHAPTER 3. RESULTS			
Hcrtr1 and Hcrtr2 mRNA Expression in the CeA 18			
CHAPTER 4. DISCUSSION			
Limitations			
Conclusion			
REFERENCES			
VITA			

LIST OF FIGURES

Figure 1.	Representative images of <i>Hcrtr1</i> , <i>Hcrtr2</i> , and <i>Fos</i> mRNA hybridization in the CeA o	
	alcohol-dependent and non-dependent rats	
Figure 2.	Hcrtr1, Hcrtr2, and Fos mRNA expression in the CeA of alcohol-dependent and non-	
	dependent rats	

CHAPTER 1. INTRODUCTION

The Hypocretin System

The hypocretin (HCRT) neuropeptides, also known as orexin, were independently discovered in 1998 (de Lecea et al. 1998; Sakurai et al. 1998). Proteolytic processing of a common precursor protein, prepro-HCRT, produces the biologically relevant HCRT neuropeptides, HCRT-1 and HCRT-2 (Sakurai et al. 1998). HCRT synthesis occurs exclusively in the dorsal hypothalamus, including the lateral hypothalamus (LH) proper, dorsomedial hypothalamus, and perifornical area (de Lecea et al. 1998; Peyron et al. 1998; Sakurai et al. 1998). HCRT neuronal projections target HCRT-receptor 1 (HCRT-R1) and HCRT-receptor 2 (HCRT-R2) throughout the brain. HCRT-R1 and -R2 are G-protein coupled-receptors that each exhibit different affinities for the HCRT neuropeptides. HCRT-R1 has a high affinity for HCRT-1 (20 nM IC₅₀) but has a lower affinity for HCRT-2 (420 nM IC₅₀; Sakurai et al. 1998). HCRT-R2 is a nonselective receptor for HCRT-1 (38 nM IC₅₀) and HCRT-2 (36 IC₅₀). Generally, HCRT-R1 is thought to largely mediate drug-seeking behavior because of its association with motivation and reward, whereas, HCRT-R2 is associated with arousal (Hopf 2020). Signaling at HCRT-R1 has been shown to facilitate drug-seeking behavior under conditions that require high effort and motivation for the drug (Moorman and Aston-Jones 2009; España et al. 2010; Moorman et al. 2017). Signaling at HCRT-R2 is associated with arousal, in particular, as shown by mutated or knockout HCRT-R2 rodents and dogs that display narcoleptic-like characteristics (Lin et al. 1999; Nishino et al. 2000; Peyron et al. 2000; Willie et al. 2003). It was also observed that patients with narcolepsy and cataplexy indeed present with a lack of neurons producing HCRT (Nishino et al. 2000; Peyron et al. 2000).

HCRT neurons exhibit a high-level of afferent and efferent projections. Interestingly, many reward and stress-related brain regions important to addiction neurocircuitry exhibit reciprocal connections with HCRT neurons. Brain regions with afferent projections to HCRT neurons include: the central amygdala (CeA), basolateral amygdala (BLA), bed nucleus of the stria terminalis (BNST), nucleus accumbens (NAc), ventral tegmental area (VTA), paraventricular nucleus (PVN), ventromedial hypothalamus (VMH), and dorsomedial hypothalamus (DMH) (Sakurai et al. 2005; Yoshida et al. 2006; Giardino et al. 2018; Saito et al. 2018). Efferent projections from HCRT neurons innervate: the CeA, BLA, BNST, NAc, VTA, PVN, paraventricular thalamus (PVT), and lateral hypothalamus (LH) (Peyron et al. 1998; Nambu et al. 1999). Importantly, HCRT-R expression is also observed in many of these addiction-related brain regions, such as the CeA and NAc, that also exhibit reciprocal connections with HCRT neurons (Marcus et al. 2001). Thus, the organization of the HCRT neurotransmission system facilitates its involvement in physiology and behavior implicated in reward and stress.

HCRT and Addiction

Drug addiction is a chronically relapsing disorder involving compulsive drug seeking and taking, lack of ability to control drug consumption, and the emergence of a negative affect during withdrawal. Typically, addiction is conceptualized as a cycle where an individual progresses through binge/intoxication, withdrawal/negative affect, and preoccupation/anticipation stages. Initially, the evidence for HCRT neurotransmission's involvement in addiction was indirect and based on a combination of case and clinical studies. Interestingly, it was noted that narcoleptic patients, who have reduced numbers of HCRT neurons, rarely abuse stimulants (Akimoto 1960; Nishino and Mignot 1997). Conversely, the brains of opiate addicts contain more HCRT neurons

than control brains (Thannickal et al. 2018). The first preclinical study directly implicating the HCRT system in addiction reported that morphine withdrawal activates HCRT neurons and induces *Hcrt* gene expression, and HCRT knockout mice exhibit attenuated somatic signs of morphine withdrawal (Georgescu et al. 2003). Further research showed that HCRT neurotransmission promotes drug-seeking behavior. Specifically, extinguished morphine place preference is reinstated following chemical activation of HCRT neurons, and HCRT-R1 antagonism blocks this effect (Harris et al. 2005). Currently, it is believed that HCRT neurotransmission facilitates drug-seeking behavior, particularly, under conditions that require increased effort/motivation to take the drug. Generally, HCRT-R antagonism attenuates self-administration when reinforcement requires relatively high motivation but does not affect low-effort self-administration (Moorman 2018). Similarly, HCRT-R1 antagonism attenuates alcohol consumption, preference, and reinstatement in highly motivated rats, but not in low-alcohol-preferring rats (Moorman and Aston-Jones 2009; Lopez et al. 2016; Moorman et al. 2017). Thus, the HCRT system is particularly involved in high-motivation drug consumption.

Now, HCRT neurotransmission has been implicated in mediating drug-seeking behavior for all major drug classes, including psychostimulants (Boutrel et al. 2005; Schmeichel et al. 2018), opioids (Smith and Aston-Jones 2012; Schmeichel et al. 2015), nicotine (LeSage et al. 2010), and alcohol (Morganstern et al. 2010; Anderson et al. 2014; Moorman et al. 2017). Additionally, many animal models of addiction have been utilized to investigate the HCRT system's involvement in addiction. Conditioned place preference (Harris et al. 2005; Shoblock et al. 2011), self-administration (LeSage et al. 2010; Smith and Aston-Jones 2012; Anderson et al. 2014), and withdrawal (Georgescu et al. 2003; Lopez et al. 2016; Matzeu and Martin-Fardon 2020) paradigms have all been used in studies investigating HCRT-mediated reinforcement.

HCRT Neurotransmission Mediates Alcohol-Seeking Behavior

Many studies, using various animal models of addiction, have demonstrated that the HCRT system is involved in alcohol-seeking behavior. In an early study, treatment with a HCRT-R1 antagonist reduced cue-induced reinstatement of alcohol drinking and alcohol selfadministration (Lawrence et al. 2006). In another study, alcohol consumption was increased 2 hours following HCRT-1 microinjections into the PVN or LH (Schneider et al. 2007). Thus, these studies indicate signaling at HCRT-R1 mediates alcohol-seeking behavior. Studies have also indicated a role for HCRT-R2 in alcohol-seeking behavior. Intracerebroventricular injection of a selective HCRT-R2 antagonist, TCS-OX2-29, decreased alcohol self-administration (Brown et al. 2013). Also, TCS-OX2-29 microinjections into the NAc decreased intermittent-access alcohol drinking (Brown et al. 2013). HCRT-R2 antagonism also decreases alcohol binge drinking, but the effect was observed only at a high dose (60 mg/kg) (Anderson et al. 2014). Given the role of HCRT-R2 on arousal-state, it is therefore possible that HCR-R2 antagonism indirectly reduced alcohol drinking by attenuating arousal. Collectively, the aforementioned studies implicate HCRT-R1 and -R2 in alcohol-seeking behavior, but do not address the effects of dual HCRT-R antagonism. Dual HCRT-R antagonists, such as almorexant, have demonstrated a good efficacy for attenuating alcohol drinking in rodents (Srinivasan et al. 2012; Anderson et al. 2014). In 2019, a dual HCRT-R antagonist, Lemborexant, was FDA approved to treat insomnia. Dual HCRT-R antagonists are a promising treatment for Alcohol Use Disorder (AUD) because sleep disruptions often accompany AUD. Thus, there is an increased interest in dual HCRT-R antagonists for the treatment of AUD. Dual HCRT-R antagonism may provide a comprehensive treatment for AUD by directly attenuating drug-seeking behavior (actions at HCRT-R1) and promoting healthy sleep (actions at HCRT-R2). In a recent study, intra-PVT

injection of a dual HCRT-R antagonist reduced operant responding at the active lever (resulted in an ethanol reward) without affecting activity at the inactive lever (no contingent reward), suggesting that dual HCRT-R antagonism did not affect general activity and arousal. (Matzeu and Martin-Fardon 2020). This result provides further support that dual HCRT-R antagonists are a potential treatment for AUD.

CeA in Alcohol Dependence and Withdrawal

A negative affect develops during the withdrawal stage, and irritability, stress, and emotional dysregulation are observed. The extended amygdala, consisting of the CeA, BNST, and a transition zone in the subregion of the NAc (Heimer and Alheid 1991), has been identified as an important reward/stress-related brain region involved in the development and expression of the negative affect during drug withdrawal. Currently, it is hypothesized that stress-related neurotransmitter systems are recruited in the extended amygdala during the transition to alcohol dependency (Koob and Schulkin 2019). Interestingly, there seems to be a unique role for the CeA in alcohol dependence and withdrawal. Corticotropin-releasing factor (CRF) and neuropeptide Y (NPY) neurotransmission systems within the CeA regulate alcohol drinking and alcohol withdrawal-induced stress by modulating GABAergic transmission in the CeA. In alcohol-dependent rodents, increased CRF and corticotropin-releasing factor receptor-1 (CRF1) mRNA levels are observed (Pich et al. 1995; Roberto et al. 2010). CRF1 signaling promotes increased alcohol drinking and withdrawal-induced stress/anxiety (Overstreet et al. 2004; Funk et al. 2007; Huang et al. 2010). Also, CRF increases GABAergic transmission in the CeA (Roberto et al. 2010). In contrast, NPY decreases GABAergic transmission in the CeA, withdrawalinduced stress/anxiety, and alcohol drinking in dependent rodents (Eva et al. 2008; Gilpin, Misra, et al. 2008; Gilpin et al. 2011). Thus, this evidence suggests that modulation of GABAergic

transmission in the CeA by opposing neurotransmission systems effects alcohol drinking and withdrawal induced stress in alcohol dependency. Similarly, HCRT neurotransmission mediates GABAergic transmission in the CeA of cocaine self-administering rats. Rats with extended access to cocaine (6 hrs) exhibited increased GABAergic transmission in the CeA, and this effect was blocked with intra-CeA injections of a HCRT-R1 antagonist. Thus, the HCRT system may be another important stress neurotransmission system in the CeA implicated in addiction. In conclusion, there is strong evidence of complex neurocircuitry within the CeA that regulates the development of the negative affect during the transition to alcohol dependency.

Alcohol's Regulation of Hcrt and Hcrtr Expression

As outlined above, HCRT neurotransmission mediates alcohol-seeking behavior. Thus, adaptions in the HCRT system may be involved in the development of alcohol dependence. Multiple studies have reported that chronic alcohol drinking rats exhibit increased *Hcrt* mRNA expression in the hypothalamus, as measured by PCR. For example, rats consuming 5 g/kg/day of ethanol for 70 days exhibited an increase in the area of *Hcrt* mRNA in the LH compared to alcohol-naïve and alcohol non-preferring rats (Lawrence et al. 2006). Similarly, rats consuming 3.5g/kg/day of ethanol for 7 weeks exhibited increased *Hcrt* mRNA in the perifornical lateral hypothalamus (PFLH) 30 minutes after the final alcohol session (Barson et al. 2015). In contrast, rats consuming 1.0 or 2.5 g/kg/day of ethanol for 28 days both exhibited decreased *Hcrt* mRNA in the PFLH 2 hrs following the last alcohol session (Morganstern et al. 2010). It is possible that opposing effects on *Hcrt* expression in the hypothalamus may be due to variation in the length of alcohol drinking paradigm. Additionally, differences in HCRT expression may be affected by time of tissue collection in relation to last alcohol exposure, as has been shown in corticosterone systems. For example, glucocorticoid receptor mRNA levels in the prefrontal cortex were

significantly reduced in alcohol-dependent rats compared to non-dependent controls during acute alcohol withdrawal (24 hrs after last alcohol session), but no significant difference was observed in the same region during protracted abstinence (3 weeks after last alcohol session) (Vendruscolo et al. 2012). Therefore, it is possible that opposing differences in *HCRT* expression are related to fluctuations that occur in *HCRT* expression following the last alcohol session. Interestingly, *Hcrt* mRNA expression is significantly increased in the hypothalamus of alcohol-dependent rats compared to non-dependent and naïve rats during acute alcohol withdrawal (8 hrs after last alcohol session; Matzeu and Martin-Fardon 2020). HCRT-1 peptide blood concentration has been reported to be higher in alcohol-dependent patients compared to controls. An increase in *Hcrt* mRNA and protein in alcohol-dependent subjects may contribute to increased motivation for alcohol in alcohol-dependent individuals compared to non-dependent individuals.

Alcohol drinking/exposure also regulates *Hcrtr1* and *Hcrtr2* expression. Rats receiving a single ethanol injection (2.5 g/kg) exhibited increased *Hcrtr1* mRNA levels compared to vehicle controls (Morales-Mulia 2019). In one study, chronic alcohol drinking rats exhibited increased *Hcrtr2* mRNA levels in the anterior PVT (Barson et al. 2015). Reduced *Hcrtr1* mRNA levels in the prefrontal cortex of chronic alcohol drinking rats has also been reported (Airapetov et al. 2019). The mixed results suggest that adaptions in *Hcrtr1* and *Hcrtr2* expression likely depend on the specific brain region and HCRT-R-subtype. Further, adaptations in *Hcrtr* expression are brain subregion specific. Rats consuming 3.5g/kg/day of ethanol for 7 weeks exhibited increased *Hcrtr2* mRNA levels in the anterior PVT compared to controls, but there was no significant difference in *Hcrtr2* expression in the posterior PVT (Barson et al. 2015). Importantly, experiments specifically designed to induce alcohol dependence and withdrawal have also showed significant changes in *Hcrtr1* and *Hcrtr2* expression. *Hcrtr1* mRNA levels

were increased in the posterior PVT of alcohol-dependent rats compared to controls during acute alcohol withdrawal (8 hrs after last alcohol session) (Matzeu and Martin-Fardon 2020). Rats 24 hrs into alcohol withdrawal exhibited reduced *Hcrtr1* mRNA in the prefrontal cortex compared to water drinking controls (Airapetov et al. 2019). A significant reduction in *Hcrtr1* mRNA was still observed 7 days into withdrawal. Thus, adaptions in *Hcrtr1* and *Hcrtr2* mRNA expression do occur in alcohol dependence and withdrawal, but the biological significance of the adaptions are not known.

RT-PCR Versus RNAscope: A Comparison

The majority of the studies outlined above use the RT-PCR technique for quantifying mRNA expression of Hcrt and Hcrtr1/Hcrtr2. RT-PCR is the standard technique for quantifying mRNA expression but has critical drawbacks. RT-PCR involves dissecting and homogenizing tissue in order to isolate RNA. In the processes of RNA isolation, the tissue context of the RNA signal is lost. Thus, it is not possible to associate RNA molecules with a specific subregion or cell type; however, the RNAscope assay is an *in situ* hybridization (ISH) assay specific for RNA molecules of interest. The RNAscope assay allows for a greater level of tissue specificity, subregion analysis, and cell type specificity. A novel probe design that hybridizes with target RNA molecules differentiates RNAscope from general RNA ISH. In typical RNA ISH, the complimentary strand that hybridizes to target RNA is a single linear RNA molecule. In RNAscope, approximately 50 Z-shaped probes hybridize to the target mRNA (Wang et al. 2012). The Z-shaped probes hybridize in pairs and create a binding site for preamplifiers and subsequent fluorescent tags. Therefore, the RNAscope technique is highly specific because fluorescent tags can only hybridize to target mRNA if double Z- hybridization is successful. Thus, the RNAscope assay utilizes a sophisticated system to enable single RNA molecule

visualization. The researcher can now easily observe the RNA signal *in situ*. In conclusion, the RNAscope technique was utilized to gain specificity and understand the signal distribution and density of *Hcrtr1*, *Hcrtr2*, and *Fos* within the CeA.

Hypothesis and Specific Goals

There is a growing amount of evidence that chronic alcohol drinking/exposure can dynamically regulate *Hcrtr1* and *Hcrtr2* expression, but the specific adaptions in *Hcrtr* expression in many reward/stress-related brain regions during acute alcohol withdrawal have not been investigated. The CeA is an important reward/stress-related brain region because it is specifically prominent in the development of the negative affect during the transition to alcohol dependence. Therefore, the goal of this study is to investigate Hcrtr1 and Hcrtr2 mRNA expression in the CeA of alcohol-dependent rats and in non-dependent controls during acute alcohol withdrawal. The study also investigated the interaction between alcohol dependence and neuron activation in the CeA as measured by Fos mRNA expression in dependent and nondependent rats. It is hypothesized that *Hcrtr1* and *Hcrtr2* expression in the CeA of alcohol dependent rats at the time of acute alcohol withdrawal will be significantly different compared to non-dependent controls. Prior research has quantified Hcrtr1 and Hcrtr2 mRNA using RT-PCR, but this technique disrupts cell morphology. Therefore, there is ambiguity concerning the tissue subjected to RT-PCR. Thus, the current study also contains methodological goals because Hcrtr1, Hcrtr2, and fos mRNA will be quantified using RNAscope. To our knowledge, Hcrtr1 and Hcrtr2 mRNA has not been quantified using the RNAscope technique in a rodent model of alcohol addiction. Overall, the study aims to assess if altered *Hcrtr1* and *Hcrtr2* expression in the CeA is observed during acute alcohol withdrawal using a novel technique that maintains cell morphology and allows visualization of transcripts.

CHAPTER 2. MATERIALS AND METHODS

Animals

Adult male Wistar rats (N = 12; Charles River, Raleigh, NC), weighing between 225-275 grams at the beginning of the experiments, were housed in groups of 2-3 per cage in a temperature-controlled (22°C) vivarium on a 12/12-hour light/dark cycle (lights on at 18:00) with *ad libitum* access to food and water. The animals were allowed to acclimate to the animal facility for at least 7 days before training. All procedures adhered to the National Institutes of Health Guide for the Care and Use of Laboratory Animals and were approved by the Institutional Animal Care. A subset (n= 6) was used for RNAscope.

Chronic Intermittent Ethanol Vapor (CIEV)

Alcohol self-administration sessions were conducted in standard operant conditioning chambers (Med Associates, St. Albans, VT, USA). Briefly, after rats were given free-choice access to alcohol (10% w/v) and water for 1 day in their home cages, the rats were given one overnight session in the operant chambers with access to one lever that delivered water on a fixed ratio (FR1) schedule of reinforcement where one lever press resulted in 0.1 ml liquid delivery. Then, the rats were gradually transitioned to 30 min sessions with two levers available (water and alcohol; FR1; 0.1 ml liquid/press) until stable levels of 10% (w/v) alcohol intake were reached. Upon stable levels of responding for alcohol, rats were exposed to chronic intermittent ethanol vapor (CIEV) as previously described (O'Dell et al. 2004; Gilpin, Richardson, et al. 2008; Vendruscolo et al. 2012). Cycles of alcohol intoxication and withdrawal occurred daily for a minimum of 4 weeks, after which blood alcohol levels during vapor exposure ranged between 150-250 mg/dl. Over a 24-hour period, the alcohol vapor was on for 14 hours consecutively, and

operant alcohol self-administration occurred during the 10-hour period without alcohol vapor, 6-8 hours into withdrawal when brain and blood alcohol levels are negligible (Gilpin et al. 2009). In this model, rats exhibit somatic withdrawal signs and negative emotional symptoms reflected by anxiety-like responses and elevated brain reward thresholds (Schulteis et al. 1995; Roberts et al. 2000; O'Dell et al. 2004). Rats exposed to ambient air were used as non-dependent controls.

RNAscope

A subset of rats were used for RNAscope analyses (n=6). Rats were euthanized and fixed with 4% paraformaldehyde. The brains were collected 24 hours after the final ethanol vapor session and placed in formaldehyde, and then subjected to a sucrose gradient. Brains were cryosectioned (20 µm) and stored at -80°C in long-term storage buffer. Prior to the *in situ* assay the tissue was removed from the long-term storage buffer and mounted onto Superfrost Plus slides (Thermo Fisher Scientific, Waltham, MA). Slides incubated overnight at 60°C before the day of the in assay. On the day of the assay, the tissue was dehydrated in 50%, 75% and 100% ethanol. All of the necessary reagents for the RNAscope assay were included in the RNAscope Multiplex Fluorescent Reagent Kit v2 from Advanced Cell Diagnostics (320293-USM). Next, the tissue was subject to submersion in target retrieval solution at 100°C for 10 minutes. Tissue sections were treated with protease III and incubated at 40°C for 30 min. The hybridization and amplification steps were performed exactly according to the RNAscope Multiplex Fluorescent Reagent Kit v2 manual (320293-USM). Hybridization was achieved by allowing the tissue sections to incubate with hertr1 (444761), hertr2 (484571), and fos (455821) probes at 40°C for 2 h. Sections were then incubated with preamplifier and amplifier probes by applying AMP1 at 40°C for 30 min, AMP2 at 40°C for 15 min, and AMP3 at 40°C for 30 min, followed by

incubation in AMP4 ALTC 40°C for 15 min. Finally, the slides were stained with DAPI and coverslipped.

Statistical Analysis

All data are expressed as means and standard errors of the mean (+SEM). ImageJ software was used to count positive signal and determine the area of the region of interest (ROI). Positive signal was verified using the RNAscope Multiplex Fluorescent Reagent Kit v2 manual from Advanced Cell Diagnostics (320293-USM). Expression of mRNA was quantified by calculating signal density (mRNA/µm^2). Student's *t*-test was used to compare signal density for each *Fos*, *Hcrtr1*, and *Hcrtr2*. Statistical analyses were performed using GraphPad Prism software version (GraphPad Software, San Diego, CA, USA). P values less than 0.05 were considered statistically significant for all tests.

CHAPTER 3. RESULTS

Hcrtr1 and Hcrtr2 mRNA Expression in the CeA

The central amygdala is a reward/stress-related brain region involved in the development and expression of the negative affect observed during alcohol withdrawal. Therefore, the ability of the CeA to biochemically respond to alcohol dependence was examined. Hcrtr1, Hcrtr2, and Fos mRNA expression in the CeA of alcohol-dependent and non-dependent rats (n=3 per group/brain region) were investigated using RNAscope. Alcohol-dependent rats were euthanized 24 hours into alcohol withdrawal and non-dependent rats were euthanized 24 hours following ambient air exposure rather than ethanol vapor. Sufficient hybridization was achieved in both alcohol-dependent and non-dependent groups for Hcrtr1, Hcrtr2, and Fos (Figure 1). Hcrtr1 signal density was not significantly different in the CeA of alcohol-dependent rats compared to nondependent rats (Figure 2; t(4) = 0.014, p = 0.989). There was no significant difference in *Hcrtr2* mRNA signal density in the CeA of alcohol-dependent rats compared to non-dependent rats (Figure 2; t(4) = 1.669, p = 0.171). There was no significant difference in Fos mRNA signal density in the CeA between alcohol-dependent and non-dependent rats (Figure 2; t(4) = 0.436, p = 0.686). Thus, the current findings do not support that *Hcrtr1* and *Hcrtr2* expression is significantly altered in alcohol-dependent rats compared to non-dependent rats.

A) Alcohol-dependent



DAPI + *Hcrtr1*

DAPI + *hcrtr2*

DAPI + fos



B) Non-dependent





Figure 1. Representative images of *Hcrtr1*, *Hcrtr2*, and *Fos* mRNA hybridization in the CeA of alcohol-dependent and non-dependent rats. The RNAscope in-situ assay achieved hybridization with *Hcrtr1* (magenta), *Hcrtr2* (cyan), and *Fos* (green) mRNA in alcohol-dependent rats (A) and non-dependent controls (B). The yellow circle indicates a representative region of interest used to determine signal density. Images with the yellow circle are merged images containing signal from all three channels. The cell nuclei were identified by staining with DAPI (blue). Scale bars= 250 μ m (upper panel) or 25 μ m (lower panels).



Figure 2. *Hcrtr1*, *Hcrtr2*, and *Fos* mRNA expression in the CeA of alcohol-dependent and non-dependent rats. mRNA expression of each gene is expressed as signal density (mRNA/ μ m²) in the CeA of alcohol non-dependent (NonDep, n =3) and dependent (Dep, n =3) rats. There is no significant difference in *Hcrtr1*, *Hcrtr2*, or *Fos* mRNA expression in alcohol-dependent rats compared to non-dependent controls.

CHAPTER 4. DISCUSSION

Adaptions in neurotransmitter systems are observed during the transition to alcohol dependence. In this study, Hcrtr1, Hcrtr2, and Fos mRNA expression was investigated in the CeA of alcohol-dependent rats and in non-dependent controls during acute alcohol withdrawal. No significant difference in *Hcrtr1*, *Hcrtr2*, and *Fos* mRNA expression was observed in alcoholdependent rats compared to non-dependent controls. Thus, it does not appear that *Hcrtr1* and Hcrtr2 adaptations in the CeA are implicated in acute alcohol withdrawal. It is possible that the CeA does not experience adaptations in *Hcrtr1* and *Hcrtr2* expression during acute alcohol withdrawal. Similar findings have been observed for the VTA. The VTA is an important reward/stress-related brain region implicated in addiction that is innervated by HCRT neurons (Marcus et al. 2001; Koob and Schulkin 2019). *Hcrtr1* mRNA expression in the VTA was not significantly different in chronic alcohol drinking rats compared to controls (Airapetov et al. 2019). Additionally, it is possible that changes in *Hcrtr1* and *Hcrtr2* expression are not uniform within the CeA. There may be differences in *Hcrtr1* and *Hcrtr2* expression between the medial and lateral CeA. Chronic alcohol drinking induces a significant increase in *Hcrtr2* expression in the anterior PVT, but not the posterior PVT. Similarly, an experimental design that compares subregions within the CeA may reveal variation in alcohol's effect on Hcrtr1 and Hcrtr2 expression in the CeA. Furthermore, we collected tissue 24 hrs after the last vapor session. It is possible that a different time of tissue collection would have resulted in different findings. For example, rats euthanized 30 minutes following a 7-week chronic intermittent-drinking paradigm exhibited no change in *Hcrtr1* or *Hcrtr2* mRNA in the posterior PVT (Barson et al. 2015), but rats made dependent through CIEV euthanized 8 hours into withdrawal had significantly higher Hcrtr1 and Hcrtr2 mRNA in the same region compared to non-dependent controls (Matzeu and

Martin-Fardon 2020). The current study used a period of 24 hours following CIEV for brain collection. This timepoint was selected to target more stable gene expression while animals are still in acute withdrawal (Rimondini et al. 2003; O'Dell et al. 2004; Gilpin, Richardson, et al. 2008; Sommer et al. 2008). However, this timepoint might not be sufficient to capture transient changes in *Hcrtr1* and *Hcrtr2* mRNA that may have relevant implications for understanding adaptations in the HCRT neurotransmission system during acute alcohol withdrawal.

Limitations

As mentioned above, the CeA may not respond uniformly during alcohol withdrawal. Therefore, future studies should investigate differences in medial and lateral CeA Hcrtr expression during alcohol withdrawal. It is also important to investigate Hcrtr1 and Hcrtr2 expression in the CeA at various time points during acute alcohol withdrawal. Collecting tissue from alcohol-dependent rats at 4, 12, and 24 hrs into acute alcohol withdrawal would reveal potential fluctuations in Hcrtr1 and Hcrtr2 mRNA. Furthermore, investigating Hcrtr1 and Hcrtr2 mRNA expression during acute and protracted abstinence may reveal important differences that facilitate relapse. Another major limitation in the current is that *Hcrtr1*, *Hcrtr2*, and Fos mRNA levels were exclusively investigated. Therefore, future studies should assess if altered Hcrtr1, Hcrtr2, and Fos levels correspond with protein expression and assess the physiological significance of altering HCRT-R protein expression. Concerning techniques, comparative studies for RNAscope and RT-PCR need to be conducted. This would provide support and further validate RNAscope as a technique for quantifying mRNA. Lastly, the current study utilized a small sample size due to limitations in the number of animals and tissue quality. A more powerful study with a larger sample size could reveal adaptions in *Hcrtr1* and *Hcrtr2* expression within the CeA of alcohol-dependent animals.

Conclusion

The current study, reports that *Hcrtr1* and *Hcrtr2* Mrna levels are not significantly different in the CeA of alcohol-dependent rats compared to non-dependent controls at the time of acute alcohol withdrawal. There is no significant difference in *Fos* expression in the CeA of alcohol-dependent rats compared to non-dependent controls. In conclusion, the current study does not support that adaptions in *Hcrtr1* and *Hcrtr2* expression in the CeA are implicated in acute withdrawal.

REFERENCES

- Airapetov MI, Sekste EA, Eresko SO, Bychkov ER, Lebedev AA, Shabanov PD. 2019. Chronic Alcoholism Influences the Mrna Level of the Orexin Receptor Type 1 (OX1R) in Emotiogenic Structures of the Rat Brain. Biochem Moscow Suppl Ser B. 13(1):93–96. doi:10.1134/S1990750819010025.
- Akimoto H. 1960. Pharmacotherapy in narcolepsy. Dis Nerv Syst. 21:704–706.
- Anderson RI, Becker HC, Adams BL, Jesudason CD, Rorick-Kehn LM. 2014. Orexin-1 and orexin-2 receptor antagonists reduce ethanol self-administration in high-drinking rodent models. Front Neurosci. 0. doi:10.3389/fnins.2014.00033. [accessed 2021 Jul 29]. https://www.frontiersin.org/articles/10.3389/fnins.2014.00033/full.
- Barson JR, Ho HT, Leibowitz SF. 2015. Anterior thalamic paraventricular nucleus is involved in intermittent access ethanol drinking: role of orexin receptor 2: Apvt is involved in drinking. Addiction Biology. 20(3):469–481. doi:10.1111/adb.12139.
- Boutrel B, Kenny PJ, Specio SE, Martin-Fardon R, Markou A, Koob GF, Lecea L de. 2005. Role for hypocretin in mediating stress-induced reinstatement of cocaine-seeking behavior.
 PNAS. 102(52):19168–19173. doi:10.1073/pnas.0507480102.
- Brown RM, Khoo SY-S, Lawrence AJ. 2013. Central orexin (hypocretin) 2 receptor antagonism reduces ethanol self-administration, but not cue-conditioned ethanol-seeking, in ethanolpreferring rats. International Journal of Neuropsychopharmacology. 16(9):2067–2079. doi:10.1017/S1461145713000333.

- España RA, Oleson EB, Locke JL, Brookshire BR, Roberts DCS, Jones SR. 2010. The hypocretin–orexin system regulates cocaine self-administration via actions on the mesolimbic dopamine system. European Journal of Neuroscience. 31(2):336–348. doi:10.1111/j.1460-9568.2009.07065.x.
- Eva C, Mele P, Collura D, Nai A, Pisu MG, Serra M, Biggio G. 2008. Modulation of neuropeptide Y and Y1 receptor expression in the amygdala by fluctuations in the brain content of neuroactive steroids during ethanol drinking discontinuation in Y1R/LacZ transgenic mice. Journal of Neurochemistry. 104(4):1043–1054. doi:10.1111/j.1471-4159.2007.05077.x.
- Funk CK, Zorrilla EP, Lee M-J, Rice KC, Koob GF. 2007. Corticotropin-Releasing Factor 1 Antagonists Selectively Reduce Ethanol Self-Administration in Ethanol-Dependent Rats. Biological Psychiatry. 61(1):78–86. doi:10.1016/j.biopsych.2006.03.063.
- Georgescu D, Zachariou V, Barrot M, Mieda M, Willie JT, Eisch AJ, Yanagisawa M, Nestler EJ, DiLeone RJ. 2003. Involvement of the Lateral Hypothalamic Peptide Orexin in Morphine Dependence and Withdrawal. J Neurosci. 23(8):3106–3111. doi:10.1523/JNEUROSCI.23-08-03106.2003.
- Giardino WJ, Eban-Rothschild A, Christoffel DJ, Li S-B, Malenka RC, de Lecea L. 2018.
 Parallel circuits from the bed nuclei of stria terminalis to the lateral hypothalamus drive opposing emotional states. Nat Neurosci. 21(8):1084–1095. doi:10.1038/s41593-018-0198-x.
- Gilpin NW, Misra K, Herman MA, Cruz MT, Koob GF, Roberto M. 2011. Neuropeptide Y opposes alcohol effects on gamma-aminobutyric acid release in amygdala and blocks the

transition to alcohol dependence. Biol Psychiatry. 69(11):1091–1099. doi:10.1016/j.biopsych.2011.02.004.

- Gilpin NW, Misra K, Koob GF. 2008. Neuropeptide Y in the central nucleus of the amygdala suppresses dependence-induced increases in alcohol drinking. Pharmacol Biochem Behav. 90(3):475–480. doi:10.1016/j.pbb.2008.04.006.
- Gilpin NW, Richardson HN, Cole M, Koob GF. 2008. Vapor Inhalation of Alcohol in Rats.Current Protocols in Neuroscience. 44(1):9.29.1-9.29.19.doi:10.1002/0471142301.ns0929s44.
- Gilpin NW, Smith AD, Cole M, Weiss F, Koob GF, Richardson HN. 2009. Operant Behavior and Alcohol Levels in Blood and Brain of Alcohol-Dependent Rats. Alcoholism: Clinical and Experimental Research. 33(12):2113–2123. doi:10.1111/j.1530-0277.2009.01051.x.
- Harris GC, Wimmer M, Aston-Jones G. 2005. A role for lateral hypothalamic orexin neurons in reward seeking. Nature. 437(7058):556–559. doi:10.1038/nature04071.
- Heimer L, Alheid GF. 1991. Piecing together the Puzzle of Basal Forebrain Anatomy. In: Napier TC, Kalivas PW, Hanin I, editors. The Basal Forebrain: Anatomy to Function. Boston, MA: Springer US. (Advances in Experimental Medicine and Biology). p. 1–42. [accessed 2022 Feb 28]. https://doi.org/10.1007/978-1-4757-0145-6_1.
- Hopf FW. 2020. Recent perspectives on orexin/hypocretin promotion of addiction-related behaviors. Neuropharmacology. 168:108013. doi:10.1016/j.neuropharm.2020.108013.
- Huang MM, Overstreet DH, Knapp DJ, Angel R, Wills TA, Navarro M, Rivier J, Vale W, Breese GR. 2010. Corticotropin-Releasing Factor (CRF) Sensitization of Ethanol

Withdrawal-Induced Anxiety-Like Behavior is Brain Site Specific and Mediated by CRF1 Receptors: Relation to Stress-Induced Sensitization. J Pharmacol Exp Ther.
332(1):298–307. doi:10.1124/jpet.109.159186.

- Ip CK, Zhang L, Farzi A, Qi Y, Clarke I, Reed F, Shi Y-C, Enriquez R, Dayas C, Graham B, et al. 2019. Amygdala NPY Circuits Promote the Development of Accelerated Obesity under Chronic Stress Conditions. Cell Metabolism. 30(1):111-128.e6. doi:10.1016/j.cmet.2019.04.001.
- Koob GF, Schulkin J. 2019. Addiction and stress: An allostatic view. Neuroscience & Biobehavioral Reviews. 106:245–262. doi:10.1016/j.neubiorev.2018.09.008.
- Lawrence AJ, Cowen MS, Yang H-J, Chen F, Oldfield B. 2006. The orexin system regulates alcohol-seeking in rats. British Journal of Pharmacology. 148(6):752–759. doi:10.1038/sj.bjp.0706789.
- de Lecea L, Kilduff TS, Peyron C, Gao X-B, Foye PE, Danielson PE, Fukuhara C, Battenberg ELF, Gautvik VT, Bartlett FS, et al. 1998. The hypocretins: Hypothalamus-specific peptides with neuroexcitatory activity. Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences. 95(1):322–327. doi:10.1073/pnas.95.1.322.
- LeSage MG, Perry JL, Kotz CM, Shelley D, Corrigall WA. 2010. Nicotine self-administration in the rat: effects of hypocretin antagonists and changes in hypocretin Mrna. Psychopharmacology. 209(2):203–212. doi:10.1007/s00213-010-1792-0.
- Lin L, Faraco J, Li R, Kadotani H, Rogers W, Lin X, Qiu X, de Jong PJ, Nishino S, Mignot E.
 1999. The Sleep Disorder Canine Narcolepsy Is Caused by a Mutation in the Hypocretin (Orexin) Receptor 2 Gene. Cell. 98(3):365–376. doi:10.1016/S0092-8674(00)81965-0.

- Lopez MF, Moorman DE, Aston-Jones G, Becker HC. 2016. The highly selective orexin/hypocretin 1 receptor antagonist GSK1059865 potently reduces ethanol drinking in ethanol dependent mice. Brain Research. 1636:74–80. doi:10.1016/j.brainres.2016.01.049.
- Marcus JN, Aschkenasi CJ, Lee CE, Chemelli RM, Saper CB, Yanagisawa M, Elmquist JK. 2001. Differential expression of orexin receptors 1 and 2 in the rat brain. Journal of Comparative Neurology. 435(1):6–25. doi:10.1002/cne.1190.

Matzeu A, Martin-Fardon R. 2020. Blockade of Orexin Receptors in the Posterior
Paraventricular Nucleus of the Thalamus Prevents Stress-Induced Reinstatement of
Reward-Seeking Behavior in Rats With a History of Ethanol Dependence. Front Integr
Neurosci. 0. doi:10.3389/fnint.2020.599710. [accessed 2021 Jul 29].
https://www.frontiersin.org/articles/10.3389/fnint.2020.599710/full?utm_source=research
er_app&utm_medium=referral&utm_campaign=RESR_MRKT_Researcher_inbound.

- Moorman DE. 2018. The hypocretin/orexin system as a target for excessive motivation in alcohol use disorders. Psychopharmacology. 235(6):1663–1680. doi:10.1007/s00213-018-4871-2.
- Moorman DE, Aston-Jones G. 2009. Orexin-1 receptor antagonism decreases ethanol consumption and preference selectively in high-ethanol–preferring Sprague–Dawley rats. Alcohol. 43(5):379–386. doi:10.1016/j.alcohol.2009.07.002.
- Moorman DE, James MH, Kilroy EA, Aston-Jones G. 2017. Orexin/hypocretin-1 receptor antagonism reduces ethanol self-administration and reinstatement selectively in highlymotivated rats. Brain Research. 1654:34–42. doi:10.1016/j.brainres.2016.10.018.

- Morales-Mulia M. 2019. Intra-accumbal orexin-1 receptor inhibition prevents the anxiolytic-like effect of ethanol and leads to increases in orexin-A content and receptor expression. Pharmacology Biochemistry and Behavior. 185:172761. doi:10.1016/j.pbb.2019.172761.
- Morganstern I, Chang G-Q, Barson J, Ye Z, Karatayev O, Leibowitz SF. 2010. Differential effects of acute and chronic ethanol exposure on orexin expression in the perifornical lateral hypothalamus. Alcohol Clin Exp Res. 34(5):886–896. doi:10.1111/j.1530-0277.2010.01161.x.
- Nambu T, Sakurai T, Mizukami K, Hosoya Y, Yanagisawa M, Goto K. 1999. Distribution of orexin neurons in the adult rat brain1Published on the World Wide Web on 17 March 1999.1. Brain Research. 827(1):243–260. doi:10.1016/S0006-8993(99)01336-0.
- Nishino S, Mignot E. 1997. PHARMACOLOGICAL ASPECTS OF HUMAN AND CANINE NARCOLEPSY. Progress in Neurobiology. 52(1):27–78. doi:10.1016/S0301-0082(96)00070-6.
- Nishino S, Ripley B, Overeem S, Lammers GJ, Mignot E. 2000. Hypocretin (orexin) deficiency in human narcolepsy. The Lancet. 355(9197):39–40. doi:10.1016/S0140-6736(99)05582-8.
- O'Dell LE, Roberts AJ, Smith RT, Koob GF. 2004. Enhanced Alcohol Self-Administration after Intermittent Versus Continuous Alcohol Vapor Exposure. Alcoholism: Clinical and Experimental Research. 28(11):1676–1682. doi:10.1097/01.ALC.0000145781.11923.4E.
- Overstreet DH, Knapp DJ, Breese GR. 2004. Modulation of multiple ethanol withdrawalinduced anxiety-like behavior by CRF and CRF1 receptors. Pharmacology Biochemistry and Behavior. 77(2):405–413. doi:10.1016/j.pbb.2003.11.010.

- Peyron C, Faraco J, Rogers W, Ripley B, Overeem S, Charnay Y, Nevsimalova S, Aldrich M, Reynolds D, Albin R, et al. 2000. A mutation in a case of early onset narcolepsy and a generalized absence of hypocretin peptides in human narcoleptic brains. Nat Med. 6(9):991–997. doi:10.1038/79690.
- Peyron C, Tighe DK, Pol AN van den, Lecea L de, Heller HC, Sutcliffe JG, Kilduff TS. 1998. Neurons Containing Hypocretin (Orexin) Project to Multiple Neuronal Systems. J Neurosci. 18(23):9996–10015. doi:10.1523/JNEUROSCI.18-23-09996.1998.
- Pich EM, Lorang M, Yeganeh M, Fonseca FR de, Raber J, Koob GF, Weiss F. 1995. Increase of extracellular corticotropin-releasing factor-like immunoreactivity levels in the amygdala of awake rats during restraint stress and ethanol withdrawal as measured by microdialysis. J Neurosci. 15(8):5439–5447. doi:10.1523/JNEUROSCI.15-08-05439.1995.
- Rimondini R, Sommer W, Heilig M. 2003. A temporal threshold for induction of persistent alcohol preference: behavioral evidence in a rat model of intermittent intoxication. J Stud Alcohol. 64(4):445–449. doi:10.15288/jsa.2003.64.445.
- Roberto M, Cruz MT, Gilpin NW, Sabino V, Schweitzer P, Bajo M, Cottone P, Madamba SG,
 Stouffer DG, Zorrilla EP, et al. 2010. Corticotropin Releasing Factor–Induced Amygdala
 Gamma-Aminobutyric Acid Release Plays a Key Role in Alcohol Dependence.
 Biological Psychiatry. 67(9):831–839. doi:10.1016/j.biopsych.2009.11.007.
- Roberts AJ, Heyser CJ, Cole M, Griffin P, Koob GF. 2000. Excessive Ethanol Drinking Following a History of Dependence: Animal Model of Allostasis.
 Neuropsychopharmacol. 22(6):581–594. doi:10.1016/S0893-133X(99)00167-0.

- Saito YC, Maejima T, Nishitani M, Hasegawa E, Yanagawa Y, Mieda M, Sakurai T. 2018.
 Monoamines Inhibit GABAergic Neurons in Ventrolateral Preoptic Area That Make
 Direct Synaptic Connections to Hypothalamic Arousal Neurons. J Neurosci.
 38(28):6366–6378. doi:10.1523/JNEUROSCI.2835-17.2018.
- Sakurai T, Amemiya A, Ishii M, Matsuzaki I, Chemelli RM, Tanaka H, Williams SC,
 Richardson JA, Kozlowski GP, Wilson S, et al. 1998. Orexins and Orexin Receptors: A
 Family of Hypothalamic Neuropeptides and G Protein-Coupled Receptors that Regulate
 Feeding Behavior. Cell. 92(4):573–585. doi:10.1016/S0092-8674(00)80949-6.
- Sakurai T, Nagata R, Yamanaka A, Kawamura H, Tsujino N, Muraki Y, Kageyama H, Kunita S, Takahashi S, Goto K, et al. 2005. Input of Orexin/Hypocretin Neurons Revealed by a Genetically Encoded Tracer in Mice. Neuron. 46(2):297–308. doi:10.1016/j.neuron.2005.03.010.
- Schmeichel BE, Barbier E, Misra KK, Contet C, Schlosburg JE, Grigoriadis D, Williams JP,
 Karlsson C, Pitcairn C, Heilig M, et al. 2015. Hypocretin Receptor 2 Antagonism DoseDependently Reduces Escalated Heroin Self-Administration in Rats.
 Neuropsychopharmacol. 40(5):1123–1129. doi:10.1038/npp.2014.293.
- Schmeichel BE, Herman MA, Roberto M, Koob GF. 2017. Hypocretin Neurotransmission
 Within the Central Amygdala Mediates Escalated Cocaine Self-administration and
 Stress-Induced Reinstatement in Rats. Biological Psychiatry. 81(7):606–615.
 doi:10.1016/j.biopsych.2016.06.010.
- Schmeichel BE, Matzeu A, Koebel P, Vendruscolo LF, Sidhu H, Shahryari R, Kieffer BL, Koob GF, Martin-Fardon R, Contet C. 2018. Knockdown of hypocretin attenuates extended

access of cocaine self-administration in rats. Neuropsychopharmacol. 43(12):2373–2382. doi:10.1038/s41386-018-0054-4.

- Schneider ER, Rada P, Darby RD, Leibowitz SF, Hoebel BG. 2007. Orexigenic Peptides and Alcohol Intake: Differential Effects of Orexin, Galanin, and Ghrelin. Alcoholism: Clinical and Experimental Research. 31(11):1858–1865. doi:10.1111/j.1530-0277.2007.00510.x.
- Schulteis G, Markou A, Cole M, Koob GF. 1995. Decreased brain reward produced by ethanol withdrawal. PNAS. 92(13):5880–5884. doi:10.1073/pnas.92.13.5880.
- Shoblock JR, Welty N, Aluisio L, Fraser I, Motley ST, Morton K, Palmer J, Bonaventure P, Carruthers NI, Lovenberg TW, et al. 2011. Selective blockade of the orexin-2 receptor attenuates ethanol self-administration, place preference, and reinstatement. Psychopharmacology. 215(1):191–203. doi:10.1007/s00213-010-2127-x.
- Smith RJ, Aston-Jones G. 2012. Orexin / hypocretin 1 receptor antagonist reduces heroin selfadministration and cue-induced heroin seeking. European Journal of Neuroscience. 35(5):798–804. doi:10.1111/j.1460-9568.2012.08013.x.
- Sommer WH, Rimondini R, Hansson AC, Hipskind PA, Gehlert DR, Barr CS, Heilig MA. 2008.
 Upregulation of Voluntary Alcohol Intake, Behavioral Sensitivity to Stress, and
 Amygdala Crhr1 Expression Following a History of Dependence. Biological Psychiatry.
 63(2):139–145. doi:10.1016/j.biopsych.2007.01.010.
- Srinivasan S, Simms JA, Nielsen CK, Lieske SP, Bito-Onon JJ, Yi H, Hopf FW, Bonci A, Bartlett SE. 2012. The Dual Orexin/Hypocretin Receptor Antagonist, Almorexant, in the

Ventral Tegmental Area Attenuates Ethanol Self-Administration. PLOS ONE. 7(9):e44726. doi:10.1371/journal.pone.0044726.

- Thannickal TC, John J, Shan L, Swaab DF, Wu M-F, Ramanathan L, McGregor R, Chew K-T, Cornford M, Yamanaka A, et al. 2018. Opiates increase the number of hypocretinproducing cells in human and mouse brain and reverse cataplexy in a mouse model of narcolepsy. Sci Transl Med. 10(447):eaao4953. doi:10.1126/scitranslmed.aao4953.
- Vendruscolo LF, Barbier E, Schlosburg JE, Misra KK, Whitfield TW, Logrip ML, Rivier C, Repunte-Canonigo V, Zorrilla EP, Sanna PP, et al. 2012. Corticosteroid-Dependent Plasticity Mediates Compulsive Alcohol Drinking in Rats. J Neurosci. 32(22):7563– 7571. doi:10.1523/JNEUROSCI.0069-12.2012.
- Wang F, Flanagan J, Su N, Wang L-C, Bui S, Nielson A, Wu X, Vo H-T, Ma X-J, Luo Y. 2012.
 RNAscope: A Novel in Situ RNA Analysis Platform for Formalin-Fixed, Paraffin-Embedded Tissues. The Journal of Molecular Diagnostics. 14(1):22–29.
 doi:10.1016/j.jmoldx.2011.08.002.
- Willie JT, Chemelli RM, Sinton CM, Tokita S, Williams SC, Kisanuki YY, Marcus JN, Lee C, Elmquist JK, Kohlmeier KA, et al. 2003. Distinct Narcolepsy Syndromes in Orexin Receptor-2 and Orexin Null Mice: Molecular Genetic Dissection of Non-REM and REM Sleep Regulatory Processes. Neuron. 38(5):715–730. doi:10.1016/S0896-6273(03)00330-1.
- Yoshida K, McCormack S, España RA, Crocker A, Scammell TE. 2006. Afferents to the orexin neurons of the rat brain. Journal of Comparative Neurology. 494(5):845–861. doi:10.1002/cne.20859.

VITA

GABRIEL ALDRIDGE

Education:	M.S. Biology, East Tennessee State University, Johnson
	City, Tennessee, 2022
	B.A. Biology, Carson-Newman University, Jefferson
	City, Tennessee, 2020
Professional Experience:	Graduate Assistant, East Tennessee State University, College of
	Arts and Sciences, 2020-2022
Professional Presentations:	Effects of single and dual hypocretin-receptor blockade or
	knockdown of hypocretin amygdalar projections on alcohol
	drinking in dependent male rats. Appalachian Student Research
	Forum, Johnson City, Tennessee. April 2022.